

ECLAC

TERMS OF REFERENCE



AND

RULES OF PROCEDURE



OF THE

**Economic Commission for Latin
America and the Caribbean**



UNITED NATIONS

ECLAC

United Nations publication

LC/G.1403/Rev.9

Copyright © United Nations, November 2015. All rights reserved

Printed in Santiago - United Nations

S.15-01076

Requests for authorization to reproduce this work in whole or in part should be sent to the Secretary of the Publications Board, United Nations Headquarters, New York, N.Y. 10017, United States of America. Member States and their governmental institutions may reproduce this work without prior authorization, but are requested to mention the source and to inform the United Nations of such reproduction.

CONTENTS

	<i>Page</i>
TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE COMMISSION	5
RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE COMMISSION	9
Chapter:	
I. Sessions.....	9
II. Agenda.....	11
III. Representation and credentials.....	13
IV. Officers.....	13
V. Secretariat.....	15
VI. Conduct of business.....	16
VII. Voting.....	18
VIII. Languages.....	19
IX. Records.....	20
X. Public and closed meetings.....	20
XI. Consultations with the specialized agencies and International Atomic Energy Agency.....	21
XII. Relations with non-governmental organizations.....	21
XIII. Sub-commissions, committees and other subsidiary bodies.....	23
XIV. Reports.....	24
XV. Amendments and suspensions.....	24
Annex 1 Member States of ECLAC.....	25
Annex 2 Place and date of sessions of the Commission.....	27

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE COMMISSION

as adopted by the Economic and Social Council at its sixth session and amended at its ninth, thirteenth, twenty-eighth and forty-seventh sessions, at its second regular sessions of 1979 and 1984 and at its substantive session of 2005

1. The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, acting within the framework of the policies of the United Nations and subject to the general supervision of the Council, shall, provided that the Commission takes no action in respect to any country without the agreement of the Government of that country:

(a) Initiate and participate in measures for facilitating concerted action for dealing with urgent economic problems arising out of the war and for raising the level of economic activity in Latin America and the Caribbean and for maintaining and strengthening the economic relations of the Latin American and Caribbean countries both among themselves and with other countries of the world.

(b) Make or sponsor such investigations and studies of economic and technological problems and development within territories of Latin America and the Caribbean as the Commission deems appropriate.

(c) Undertake or sponsor the collection, evaluation and dissemination of such economic, technological and statistical information as the Commission deems appropriate.

(d) Give special attention in its activities to the problems of economic development and assist in the formulation and development

of coordinated policies as a basis for practical action in promoting economic development in the region.

(e) Assist the Economic and Social Council and its Technical Assistance Committee in discharging their functions with respect to the United Nations technical assistance programme in particular by assisting in their appraisal of these activities in the Latin American and Caribbean region.

(f) In carrying out the above functions, deal as appropriate with the social aspects of economic development and the interrelationship of the economic and social factors.

2. The Commission shall direct its activities especially towards the study and seeking of solutions of problems arising in Latin America and the Caribbean from world economic maladjustment and towards other problems connected with the world economy, with a view to the cooperation of the Latin American countries in the common effort to achieve worldwide recovery and economic stability.

3. (a) Membership of the Commission shall be open to members of the United Nations in North, Central and South America, and in the Caribbean area, and to France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Spain and United Kingdom. Any territory, or part or group thereof, within the geographic scope of the Commission's work, may, on presentation of its application to the Commission by the member responsible for the international relations of such territory, part or group of territories, be eligible for admission by the Commission as an associate member of the Commission. If it has become responsible for its own international relations, such territory, part or group of territories may be admitted as an associate member of the Commission on itself presenting its application to the Commission.

(b) Representatives of associate members shall be entitled to participate without vote in all meetings of the Commission, whether sitting as commission or as committee of the whole.

(c) Representatives of associate members shall be eligible to be appointed as members of any committee or other subordinate body which may be set up by the Commission, and shall be eligible to hold office in such body.

4. The geographical scope of the Commission's work shall include the states of Latin America and the Caribbean members of the United Nations and those territories in Central America and the Caribbean which participate in the work of the Commission.

5. The Commission is empowered to make recommendations on any matters within its competence directly to the Governments of members or associate members concerned, Governments admitted in a consultative capacity, and the specialized agencies concerned. The Commission shall submit for the Council's prior consideration any of its proposals for activities that would have important effects on the economy of the world as a whole.

6. The Commission shall invite any member of the United Nations not a member of the Commission to participate in a consultative capacity in its consideration of any matter of particular concern to that non-member, following the practices of the Economic and Social Council.

7. (a) The Commission shall invite representatives of specialized agencies to attend its meetings and to participate, without vote, in its deliberations with respect to items on its agenda relating to matters within the scope of their activities; and may invite observers from such other intergovernmental organizations as it may consider desirable in accordance with the practices of the Council.

(b) The Commission shall make arrangements for consultation with non-governmental organizations which have been granted consultative status by the Council, in accordance with the principles approved by the Council for this purpose.

8. (a) The Commission shall take measures to ensure that the necessary liaison shall be maintained with other organs of the United Nations and with the specialized agencies, with special attention to the avoidance of the duplication of efforts.

(b) The Commission shall establish appropriate liaison and cooperation with other regional economic commissions, in accordance with the resolutions and directives of the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly.

9. The Commission shall cooperate with and take the necessary measures to coordinate its activities with the appropriate organs of the Inter-American System in order to avoid any unnecessary duplication of effort between those organs and itself; to this end the Commission is empowered to, and shall seek to, make working arrangements with the appropriate organs of the Inter-American System regarding the joint or independent study or execution of economic problems within its competence and the fullest exchange of information necessary for the coordination of efforts in the economic field. The Commission shall invite the Organization of American States and other regional

bodies to nominate a representative to attend meetings of the Commission in a consultative capacity.

10. The Commission may, after discussion with any specialized agency concerned, and with the approval of the Council, establish such subsidiary bodies as it deems appropriate, for facilitating the carrying out of its responsibilities.

11. The Commission shall adopt its own rules of procedure, including the method of selecting its Chairperson.

12. The Commission shall submit to the Council once a year a full report on its activities and plans, including those of any subsidiary bodies. For those years in which the Commission does not hold a session, then the Executive Secretary shall submit to the Economic and Social Council a full report of its activities and plans, including those of any subsidiary bodies, after approval by the Chairperson of the Commission and circulation to Governments of member States for their comments and any necessary modifications.¹

13. The administrative budget of the Commission shall be financed from the funds of the United Nations.

14. The Secretary-General of the United Nations shall appoint the staff of the Commission, which shall form part of the Secretariat of the United Nations.

15. The headquarters of the Commission shall be at Santiago, Chile. The first session of the Commission shall be held during the first half of the present year in that city. The Commission shall at each session decide upon the place of meeting for its next session, with due consideration for the principle that the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean be chosen in rotation.

16. The Council shall, from time to time, make special reviews of the work of the Commission.

¹ At its organizational session for 1979, the Economic and Social Council decided to “discontinue the submission to it of the reports of the regional commissions. The reports would be transmitted directly to all member States” (Decision 1979/1). At the same time the Council stated that the Secretary-General’s annual report should draw the Council’s attention to specific issues requiring its consideration, as well as to any decisions or recommendations of the commissions that statutorily required approval by the Council.

RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE COMMISSION

as adopted by the Commission at its first session and amended at its second, third, fourth, fifth, eighth and thirteenth sessions, and by the Committee of the Whole at its session in February 1952

CHAPTER I

Sessions

Rule I

(a) The Commission shall at each session recommend the date and place for its next session, subject to the approval of the Council, and in consultation with the Secretary-General. Sessions of the Commission shall be held within 45 days of the communication to the Executive Secretary of a request to that effect by the Economic and Social Council, and in that case, the Secretary-General shall establish the place of such sessions in consultation with the Chairperson of the Commission.

(b) In special cases, the date and place of the sessions may be altered by the Secretary-General in consultation with the Chairperson of the Commission and the Council's Interim Committee on Programme of Conferences. At the request of the majority of the members of the Commission, the Secretary-General, in consultation with the Chairperson of the Commission and the Council's Interim Committee

on Programme of Conferences, may also alter the date and place of the session.

Rule 2

The Commission's recommendation regarding the place of meeting for its session shall be taken with due consideration for the principle that the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean be chosen in rotation.

Rule 3

The Executive Secretary shall ensure that, at least six weeks before the commencement of a session, member Governments shall receive a notice of the opening date of the session, together with a copy of the provisional agenda and at least three copies of each of the reports, studies and documents which are to be considered during the session.

Such reports, studies and documents shall be submitted to member Governments in the language which they indicate, in accordance with the provisions of rule 44 of the rules of procedure.

Rule 4

The Commission shall invite any member of the United Nations not a member of the Commission to participate in a consultative capacity in its consideration of any matter of particular concern to that member.

Rule 5

The Commission shall invite representatives of specialized agencies to attend its meetings and to participate, without vote, in its deliberations with respect to items on its agenda relating to matters within the scope of their activities; and may invite observers from such other intergovernmental organizations as it may consider desirable in accordance with the practices of the Council.

Rule 6

The Commission shall invite the Inter-American Economic and Social Council to nominate a representative to attend meetings of the Commission in a consultative capacity.

CHAPTER II

Agenda

Rule 7

The provisional agenda for each session shall be drawn up by the Executive Secretary in consultation with the Chairperson and shall be communicated to the members of the Commission, to the specialized agencies, to the Inter-American Economic and Social Council, to the non-governmental organizations in category A and to the appropriate non-governmental organizations in category B and on the Register, together with the notice convening the Commission.

Rule 8

The provisional agenda for any session shall include:

- (a) Consideration of the report of the Executive Secretary referred to in rule 24;
- (b) Items arising from previous sessions of the Commission;
- (c) Items proposed by the Economic and Social Council;
- (d) Items proposed by any member of the Commission;
- (e) Items proposed by a specialized agency in accordance with the agreements of relationship concluded between the United Nations and such agencies;
- (f) Items proposed by the Inter-American Economic and Social Council;
- (g) Items proposed by non-governmental organizations in category A subject to the provisions of rule 10; and
- (h) Any other items which the Chairperson or the Executive Secretary deems fit to include.

Rule 9

Before the Executive Secretary places an item proposed by a specialized agency, or by the Inter-American Economic and Social Council, on the provisional agenda, s/he shall carry out with the agency or organization concerned such preliminary consultations as may be necessary.

Rule 10

Non-governmental organizations in category A may propose items for the provisional agenda of the Commission subject to the following conditions:

(a) An organization which intends to propose such an item shall inform the Executive Secretary at least 63 days before the commencement of the session and before formally proposing an item shall give due consideration to any comments the Executive Secretary may make.

(b) The proposal shall be formally submitted with the relevant basic documentation not later than 49 days before the commencement of the session. The item shall be included in the agenda of the Commission if it is adopted by a two-thirds majority of those present and voting.

Rule 11

After the agenda has been adopted the Commission may amend it at any time.

In the event that a member Government does not receive the reports, studies and documents to be considered during a session six weeks in advance, as provided in rule 3, it shall have the right to request that the items to which those reports, studies and documents refer should be excluded from the agenda, and the Commission shall immediately grant such a request.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, if, when, an item is submitted for consideration by the Commission, three-quarters or more of the members accredited to attend a given session insist that it should nevertheless be discussed, that majority decision shall prevail.

CHAPTER III

Representation and credentials

Rule 12

Each member shall be represented on the Commission by an accredited representative.

Rule 13

A representative may be accompanied to the sessions of the Commission by alternate representatives and advisers and, when absent, he may be replaced by an alternate representative.

Rule 14

The credentials of each representative appointed to the Commission, together with a designation of alternate representatives, shall be submitted to the Executive Secretary without delay.

Rule 15

The Chairperson and the Vice-Chairpersons shall examine the credentials and report upon them to the Commission.

CHAPTER IV

Officers

Rule 16

The Commission shall, at the commencement of each session, elect from among the representatives a chairperson, two vice-chairpersons and a rapporteur, who shall hold office until their successors are elected. They shall be eligible for re-election.

Rule 17

If the Chairperson does not attend a meeting, or absents him or herself from a meeting, one of the Vice-Chairpersons shall preside. If, at a following meeting, the Chairperson should again be absent, the other Vice-Chairperson shall preside, the succession alternating in the Spanish alphabetical order. The provisions of this rule apply only to a single session or to a part thereof.

Rule 18

If the Chairperson ceases to represent a member of the Commission or is so incapacitated that s/he can no longer hold office, one of the Vice-Chairpersons shall be elected as Chairperson for the unexpired portion of the term. The other Vice-Chairperson shall continue to act in the capacity prescribed in the rules of procedure.

Rule 19

The Vice-Chairperson acting as Chairperson shall have the same powers and duties as the Chairperson.

Rule 20

The Chairperson or the Vice-Chairperson shall participate in the meetings of the Commission as such and not as the representative of the member by whom s/he was accredited. The Commission shall admit an alternate representative to represent that member in the meetings of the Commission and to exercise its right to vote.

CHAPTER V

Secretariat

Rule 21

The Executive Secretary shall act in that capacity at all meetings of the Commission and of its subsidiary bodies. S/he may appoint another member of the staff to take his/her place at any meeting.

Rule 22

The Executive Secretary or his/her representative may at any meeting make either oral or written statements concerning any questions under consideration.

Rule 23

The Executive Secretary shall direct the staff provided by the Secretary-General and required by the Commission and any subsidiary bodies thereof.

Rule 24

The Executive Secretary shall be responsible for the necessary arrangements being made for meetings.

At the beginning of the session s/he shall present a report on the work programme of the secretariat during the period between the previous and current sessions.

In the periods between sessions, the Executive Secretary shall see that, insofar as possible, the member Governments are informed of the results of the work in progress and of the opinions expressed by the member Governments regarding such results.

Rule 25

The Executive Secretary in carrying out his/her functions shall act on behalf of the Secretary-General.

Rule 26

Before new proposals which involve expenditure from the United Nations funds are approved by the Commission, the Executive Secretary shall prepare and circulate to members an estimate of that part of the cost involved in the proposals which could not be met out of the resources available to the secretariat. It shall be the duty of the Chairperson to draw the attention of members to this estimate, and invite discussion on it before the proposals are approved.

CHAPTER VI

Conduct of business

Rule 27

A majority of the members of the Commission shall constitute a quorum, except as provided in the third paragraph of rule 11 of these rules of procedure.

Rule 28

In addition to exercising the powers conferred upon him/her elsewhere by these rules, the Chairperson shall declare the opening and closing of each meeting of the Commission, shall direct the discussion, ensure the observance of these rules, and shall accord the right to speak, put questions to the vote and announce decisions. The Chairperson may also call a speaker to order if his/her remarks are not relevant to the subject under discussion.

Rule 29

During the discussion of any matter a representative may raise a point of order. In this case the Chairperson shall immediately state his/her ruling. If it is challenged, the Chairperson shall forthwith submit his/her ruling to the Commission for decision and it shall stand unless overruled.

Rule 30

During the discussion of any matter, a representative may move the adjournment of the debate. Any such motion shall have priority. In addition to the proposer of the motion, one representative shall be allowed to speak in favour of and one representative against the motion.

Rule 31

A representative may at any time move the closure of the debate whether or not any other representative has signified his or her wish to speak. Not more than two representatives may be granted permission to speak against the closure.

Rule 32

The Chairperson shall take the sense of the Commission on motion for closure. If the Commission is in favour of the closure, the Chairperson shall declare the debate closed.

Rule 33

The Commission may limit the time allowed to each speaker.

Rule 34

Draft resolutions, and substantive amendments or motions, shall be introduced in writing and handed to the Executive Secretary, who shall circulate copies to the representatives twenty-four hours before they are discussed and voted upon, unless the Commission decides otherwise.

This article shall not apply to procedural motions, such as the closure or adjustment of debates.

Rule 35

Principal motions and resolutions shall be put to the vote in the order of their submission unless the Commission decides otherwise.

Rule 36

When an amendment revises, adds to or deletes from a proposal, the amendment shall be put to the vote first, and if it is adopted, the amended proposal shall then be put to the vote.

Rule 37

If two or more amendments are moved to a proposal, the Commission shall vote first on the amendment furthest removed in substance from the original proposal, then, if necessary, on the amendment next furthest removed and so on, until all the amendments have been put to the vote.

Rule 38

The Commission may, at the request of a representative, decide to put a motion or resolution to the vote in parts. If this is done, the text resulting from the series of votes shall be put to the vote as a whole.

CHAPTER VII

Voting

Rule 39

Each member of the Commission shall have one vote.

Rule 40

Decisions of the Commission shall be made by a majority of the members present and voting, except as provided in rule 10 and the third paragraph of rule 11 of these rules of procedure.

Rule 41

The Commission shall normally vote by show of hands. If any representative requests a roll call, a roll call shall be taken in the Spanish alphabetical order of the names of the members.

Rule 42

All elections shall be decided by secret ballot.

Rule 43

If a vote is equally divided upon matters other than elections, a second vote shall be taken at the next meeting. If this vote also results in equality, the proposal shall be regarded as rejected.

CHAPTER VIII

Languages

Rule 44

The final text of the Commission's report to the Economic and Social Council and of its resolutions shall be prepared in Spanish, French, English and Portuguese, which shall be the official languages of the Commission. The first three languages mentioned shall be the working languages of the Commission.²

Rule 45

Speeches made in any of the working languages shall be interpreted into the other working languages.

² Approved by the Economic and Social Council in resolution 301(XI) of 7 August 1950.

CHAPTER IX

Records

Rule 46

Summary records of the meetings of the Commission shall not normally be kept. However, the Commission reserves the right to request summary records for any discussion which may require special treatment. Any delegation may always, at its request, have its views recorded in the annual report of the Commission.

Rule 47

As soon as possible the text of all reports, resolutions, recommendations and other formal decisions made by the Commission, its sub-commissions or other subsidiary bodies and its committees shall be communicated to the members of the Commission, to associate members if and when admitted, to all other members of the United Nations, to the specialized agencies, to the Inter-American Economic and Social Council, to non-governmental organizations in category A and to the appropriate non-governmental organizations in category B and on the Register.

CHAPTER X

Public and closed meetings

Rule 48

The meetings of the Commission shall ordinarily be held in public. The Commission may decide that a particular meeting or meetings shall be held in private.

CHAPTER XI

Consultation with the specialized agencies and International Atomic Energy Agency

Rule 49

(a) Where an item proposed for the provisional agenda for a session of the Commission contains a proposal for new activities to be undertaken by the United Nations relating to matters which are of direct concern to one or more specialized agencies or the International Atomic Energy Agency, the Executive Secretary shall enter into consultation with the agency or agencies concerned and report to the Commission on the means of achieving coordinated use of the resources of the respective agencies.

(b) Where a proposal put forward in the course of a meeting for new activities to be undertaken by the United Nations relates to matters which are of direct concern to one or more specialized agencies or the International Atomic Energy Agency, the Executive Secretary shall, after such consultations as may be possible with the representatives at the meeting of the other agency or agencies concerned, draw the attention of the meeting to these implications of the proposal.

(c) Before deciding on proposals referred to above, the Commission shall satisfy itself that adequate consultations have taken place with the agencies concerned.

CHAPTER XII

Relations with non-governmental organizations

Rule 50

(a) Non-governmental organizations in categories A and B and on the Register may designate authorized representatives to sit as observers at public meetings of the Commission.

(b) Written statements relevant to the work of the Commission or its subsidiary bodies may be submitted by organizations in categories

A and B on subjects for which these organizations have a special competence. Such statements shall be circulated by the Executive Secretary to the members of the Commission except those statements which have become obsolete, e.g., those dealing with matters already disposed of.

(c) The following conditions shall be observed regarding the submission and circulation of such written statements:

(i) The written statements shall be submitted in one of the official languages of the Commission;

(ii) They shall be submitted in sufficient time for appropriate consultation to take place between the Executive Secretary and the organization before circulation;

(iii) The organizations shall give due consideration to any comments which the Executive Secretary may make in the course of such consultation before transmitting the statement in final form;

(iv) A written statement submitted by an organization in category A or B will be circulated in full if it does not exceed 2,000 words. Where a statement is in excess of 2,000 words, the organization shall submit a summary which will be circulated or shall supply sufficient copies of the full text in the three working languages for distribution. A statement will also be circulated in full, however, upon the specific request of the Commission;

(v) The Executive Secretary may invite organizations on the Register to submit written statements. The provisions of paragraphs (i), (iii) and (iv) above shall apply to such statements;

(vi) A written statement or summary, as the case may be, will be circulated by the Executive Secretary in the working languages of the Commission.

Rule 51

(a) The Commission may consult with organizations in categories A or B either directly or through a committee or committees established for the purpose. In all cases, such consultations may be arranged on the invitation of the Commission or at the request of the organization. On the recommendation of the Executive Secretary and at the request of the Commission, organizations on the Register may also be heard by the Commission.

(b) Subject to the relevant rules of procedure or financial implications, the Commission may recommend that an organization which has special competence in a particular field should undertake specific studies or investigations or prepare specific papers for the Commission. The limitations of rule 50, paragraph (c) (iv), shall not apply in this case.

CHAPTER XIII

Sub-commissions, committees and other subsidiary bodies

Rule 52

The Commission may, after discussion with any specialized agency concerned and with the approval of the Economic and Social Council, establish such sub-commissions or other subsidiary bodies as it deems appropriate for facilitating the carrying out of its responsibilities and shall define the powers and composition of each of them.³ Such autonomy as may be necessary for the effective discharge of the technical responsibilities laid upon them may be delegated to them.

Rule 53

The Commission may establish such committees and sub-committees as it deems necessary to assist it in carrying out its tasks.

Rule 54

Sub-commissions or other subsidiary bodies shall adopt their own rules of procedure unless otherwise decided by the Commission.

³ Under the terms of General Assembly resolution 32/197, subsidiary bodies of the Economic and Social Council "should refrain from creating subordinate sessional or intersessional groups without the prior concurrence of the Council".

CHAPTER XIV

Reports

Rule 55

The Commission shall submit to the Economic and Social Council once a year a full report on its activities and plans, including those of any subsidiary bodies, and shall make interim reports at each regular session of the Council.

CHAPTER XV

Amendments and suspensions

Rule 56

Any of these rules of procedure may be amended or suspended by the Commission provided that the proposed amendments or suspensions do not attempt to set aside the terms of reference laid down by the Economic and Social Council.

Annex 1
MEMBER STATES OF ECLAC
(On 1 October 2015)

	<u><i>Date of admission</i></u>
** Antigua and Barbuda	11 Nov. 1981
* Argentina	25 Feb. 1948
** Bahamas	18 Sep. 1973
** Barbados	9 Dec. 1966
** Belize	25 Sep. 1981
* Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	25 Feb. 1948
* Brazil	25 Feb. 1948
* Canada	25 Feb. 1948
* Chile	25 Feb. 1948
* Colombia	25 Feb. 1948
* Costa Rica	25 Feb. 1948
* Cuba	25 Feb. 1948
** Dominica	18 Dec. 1978
* Dominican Republic	25 Feb. 1948
* Ecuador	25 Feb. 1948
* El Salvador	25 Feb. 1948
* France	25 Feb. 1948
Germany	26 Jul. 2005 ^a
** Grenada	17 Sep. 1974
* Guatemala	25 Feb. 1948
** Guyana	20 Sep. 1966
* Haiti	25 Feb. 1948
* Honduras	25 Feb. 1948
Italy	27 Jul. 1990 ^b
** Jamaica	18 Sep. 1962
Japan	27 Jul. 2006 ^c
* Mexico	25 Feb. 1948
* Netherlands	25 Feb. 1948
* Nicaragua	25 Feb. 1948
Norway	22 July 2015 ^d
* Panama	25 Feb. 1948
* Paraguay	25 Feb. 1948
* Peru	25 Feb. 1948
Portugal	27 Jul. 1984 ^e
Republic of Korea	23 Jul. 2007 ^f
** Saint Kitts and Nevis	23 Sep. 1983
** Saint Lucia	18 Sep. 1979
** Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	16 Sep. 1980
Spain	3 Aug. 1979 ^g
** Suriname	4 Dec. 1975
** Trinidad and Tobago	18 Sep. 1962
* United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland	25 Feb. 1948
* United States of America	25 Feb. 1948
* Uruguay	25 Feb. 1948
* Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	25 Feb. 1948

(Annex I, concluded)

Associate members^h

Anguilla	20 April 1996
Aruba	22 April 1988
Bermuda	31 August 2012
British Virgin Islands	6 April 1984
Cayman Islands	31 June 2008
Curaçao	31 August 2012
Guadeloupe	31 August 2012
Martinique	31 August 2012
Montserrat	23 April 1968
Puerto Rico	10 May 1990
Sint Maarten	9 May 2014
Turks and Caicos Islands	24 March 2006
United States Virgin Islands	6 April 1984

* Original member (member of the United Nations when Economic and Social Council resolution 106(VI) was adopted).

** Date of admission to the United Nations, which is considered to be the date of joining the Commission.

^a Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 2005/41 whereby this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^b Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council decision 1990/277 whereby this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^c Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 2006/39 whereby this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^d Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 2015/29, under which this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^e Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 1984/67, under which this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^f Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 2007/5, under which this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^g Date of adoption of Economic and Social Council resolution 1979/63, under which this country was admitted as a full member of ECLAC.

^h Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Commission, paragraph 3, subparagraphs (b) and (c), representatives of associate members are entitled to participate without vote in all meetings of the Commission, whether sitting as a commission or as committee of the whole, and are eligible to be appointed as members of any committee or other subordinate body which may be set up by the Commission and to hold office in such body.

Annex 2
**PLACES AND DATES OF SESSIONS
 OF THE COMMISSION**

Santiago (Chile)	June	1948
Havana (Cuba)	May-June	1949
Montevideo (Uruguay)	June	1950
Mexico City (Mexico)	May-June	1951
Rio de Janeiro (Brazil)	April	1953
Bogotá (Colombia)	August-September	1955
La Paz (Plurinational State of Bolivia)	May	1957
Panama City (Panama)	May	1959
Santiago (Chile)	May	1961
Mar del Plata (Argentina)	May	1963
Mexico City (Mexico)	May	1965
Caracas (Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela)	May	1967
Lima (Peru)	April	1969
Santiago (Chile)	April-May	1971
Quito (Ecuador)	March	1973
Port of Spain (Trinidad and Tobago)	May	1975
Guatemala City (Guatemala)	April-May	1977
La Paz (Plurinational State of Bolivia)	April-May	1979
Montevideo (Uruguay)	April-May	1981
Lima (Peru)	March-April	1984
Mexico City (Mexico)	April	1986
Río de Janeiro (Brazil)	April	1988
Caracas (Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela)	May	1990
Santiago (Chile)	April	1992
Cartagena de Indias (Colombia)	April	1994
San José (Costa Rica)	April	1996
Oranjestad (Aruba)	May	1998
Mexico City (Mexico)	April	2000
Brasilia (Brazil)	May	2002
San Juan (Puerto Rico)	June-July	2004
Montevideo (Uruguay)	March	2006
Santo Domingo (Dominican Republic)	June	2008
Brasilia (Brazil)	May-June	2010
San Salvador (El Salvador)	August	2012
Lima (Peru)	May	2014
